To the Director of USCIS,

I must apologize:  This response will be so long, it requires its own table of contents, and pockets in this file folder for all the included attachments.

Mine is a story with too many episodes, the events cascading until I arrive by this letter to your hands.
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Underdog Tenacity
I have always maintained hope, that someone in a position of influence might eventually stand up for this underdog.  For despite my unfortunate label, I’ve established a life of honor and strength.  Family supports me.  I have miraculously attracted a very lovely wife.  My daughter still looks up to me and enjoys my company when permitted.  My career as a freelance programmer is only marginally surviving, yet I continue to master new skills and to cultivate an entrepreneurial spirit.  I support a few established clients, who occasionally bring me new business by referral.  My wife and I are making financial plans and family plans, full of optimism and aspirations.  We assuredly have the skill, energy and devotion to bring these plans to fruition.  All that’s lacking is a chance to pursue our dreams, unfettered.
Unfettered Dreams
My wife and I are deeply in love.

We met in a place foreign to us both.  By sheer luck, a prospect of new employment brought me to California.  More luckily, this coincided with her very first flight to America aboard All Nippon Airways, the airline which employed her as a flight attendant.  So it happened that a North Carolina guy was skimboarding along the beach at Santa Monica when a lovely Chinese woman walked that same shore.  She was taking photographs of random subjects, and noticed me zooming through the viewfinder.

Each time she flew to the LAX Airport thereafter, I awaited her return and we had a whirlwind date during her scheduled stopover.  Finally my job in Los Angeles ended, and with my final paycheck I procured a ticket to go and visit her in China.  I went there, to ask her parents for her hand in marriage.

She had already said yes to my proposal, and they said yes as soon as I asked.  To them, it was a big shock because they had always imagined that their daughter should marry a traditional Chinese man.  But everyone celebrated.  There was no shadow of concern around this very short visit to China.  I was gone for less than 10 days.  From that trip, I returned to California, picked up my car, and drove home to North Carolina.  I immediately began planning my next big travel, to go and be married in China at the end of the summer.  I promised to arrive before the anticipated wedding date, September 29.

Shuangshuang returned my gesture, by flying to North Carolina on her personal vacation time, to meet my parents.  My Mom and Dad live in separate places, so when my fiancee arrived with only 30 hours available to spend on the ground with me, we faced a mad rush to cover the terrain.  We drove and drove and drove.  From Charlotte Douglas Int’l Airport, we drove to University City, Mooresville, Fayetteville, White Lake, Surf City, Wilmington, and back to Charlotte in those 30 uninterrupted hours.  She could sleep on the plane.  I could sleep after she was gone.  She made a powerfully favorable impression on everyone she met along the way, and was universally accepted by my family.

Again I traveled around the world, not long before the promised wedding date.  I arrived on Sept 11, intending to be married on Sept 29 of 2009.  But my fiancee begged more time for preparations.  She wanted to plan 3 separate occasions to meet and celebrate with friends in various cities of China.  Her family still resides in Dalian, where she was raised.  Her colleagues and friends from an earlier career path were in the city of Ningbo.  And her present circle of friends is centered around Shanghai.  We rescheduled these expanded wedding plans for Dec 29, still favoring the same numeric day.  Then disaster struck!  Before we could even compose our invitation list, officials in Pender County North Carolina ruined our plans by filing a warrant for my arrest.
Unflinching Resolve
What we have is not a sham marriage, not a mail order bride situation, but an authentic relationship for which we’ve risked much, devoted considerable time and resources, and have each flown around the world more than once to be with the other.  She has a fine grasp of English, and translates for me when we are in China.  We communicate well, and seldom disagree.  We have met one another’s families.  She has known about my criminal record since our third date.  Her decision to be with me has never been based in deception or ignorance.  She is impossibly devoted, and maybe a better person than I deserve.  But I wouldn’t be the first man in the world who was lucky enough to marry above his station in life.  Our relationship is approved by all -- excepting perhaps your agency or the lawmakers who drafted the Adam Walsh Act.

Neither you nor those lawmakers has ever been acquainted with us.  We’d very much like to meet you.  And we would not flinch from an opportunity to speak before Congress, if it could be arranged.

What stands between us and a brilliant future, is a pending set of criminal charges in North Carolina for Failure to Register as a Sex Offender, stemming from original charges in Ohio during the year 2002.
Uncharacteristic Offense
First, I owned a computer business, in which a particular computer held incriminating files, and among those files some highly inappropriate photos of naked children.  Arguably I owned those too.

The original investigation report is the worst thing that you will read about me.  It’s ugly no matter how one reads the allegations being made.  A former friend and colleague turned against me, and together with his wife, signed a pair of affidavits to incriminate me.  They included all sorts of salacious gossip unrelated to the alleged crime.  It was an exercise in character assassination.  And these statements were of course, believed.  Consequently we have several ugly topics to discuss.

I do deeply regret any personal flaws or professional failings, which may have opened the door for such devastating claims to be believed.  Nothing in the world could have been more damaging to me as a computer professional and the Dad of a four year old, than a crime related to both computers and kids.

Unfortunately, it seems no matter how clean one’s life may be on the surface, people are willing to believe the very worst.  In fact, the more perfect the outward appearance, the more eagerly people anticipate the revelation of some shocking hidden sin.  We observe that boy scout leaders and priests become child molesters, and a handsome hitchhiker was famously a mass murderer.  These are gross generalizations and prejudices of course, as not all priests or hitchhikers or boyscouts are thus evil.  But society is primed to think this way.  So after I was accused, no stack of character references or good deeds would erase the stain.  Glowing recommendations made me seem a more likely suspect, instead.

Based upon my consulting web developer role within the giant online information house LexisNexis , investigators figured they might find a huge network of webservers hosting child porn.  But actually no abuses of trust or resources had ever taken place.

Dozens of officials from cooperating local agencies converged to investigate my home, my office, and the buildings of LexisNexis simultaneously.  To their astonishment, nothing incriminating existed anywhere except in the offices where my former colleague had had continual access, and was personally present on the day of the investigation to hand them a floppy-disk of supplemental information.  Small wonder that something incriminating was thereby found.

Illegal images found on that office workstation were few in number (compared with typical collections of pornography which tend to number in the thousands).  They presented minors of every age, race, and gender, not indicative of a preference for any particular body image or stage of development.  Again this is not indicative of a pedophile with a sexual motive, or even a collector with an obsessive interest.
Unregisterable O.R.C. 2907.323(a)(3)
Those illegal images were nudes, but otherwise contained no hint of sexual suggestion.  Nonetheless, in Ohio their possession constitutes a felony offense.  Elsewhere, Federal laws including the Adam Walsh Act [AWA], together with various states such as North Carolina where laws mimic the Federal statutes, all define pornography in terms of explicitly sexual content.  As I understand these laws, they would require at least a deliberate focus on the genitalia, if not a state of arousal or some touching or penetration, to classify the offensive images as illegal.  In these several jurisdictions such borderline images are protected First Amendment expressions, making their possession not even a misdemeanor, not a crime of any kind.  This is the chief way in which my offense is NOT SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR to the AWA “Possession of Child Pornography” offense which could disqualify me to petition for my wife.

Secondly, the offenses described in both the North Carolina and the AWA definitions require that the defendant *knowingly* possessed those sexually explicit images.  By contrast, Ohio law omits the element of knowledge.  O.R.C. 2907.323(a)(3) is thus a strict liability offense with no scienter, no motive, no culpability to be proven by the prosecutor.  Again this is NOT SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR to the AWA.


	POSSESSION OF CHILD PORNOGRAPHY IS...
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	Ohio Today
	North Carolina
	Adam Walsh Act*
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	    DEFINED AS ANY SUBJECT VISUALLY INDISTINGUISHABLE FROM A MINOR
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	    IN “A STATE OF NUDITY”
	
	
	
	

	    INVOLVED IN “SEXUALLY EXPLICIT CONDUCT”  **
	
	
	
	



*  Derived from Federal Child Pornography Law, 18 U.S.C. §2256
http://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/18/usc_sec_18_00002256----000-.html#FN-1

**  "Sexually explicit conduct" is defined as "actual or simulated — (i) sexual intercourse, including genital-genital, oral-genital, anal-genital, or oral-anal, whether between persons of the same or opposite sex; (ii) bestiality; (iii) masturbation; (iv) sadistic or masochistic abuse; or (v) lascivious exhibition of the genitals or pubic area of any person"


Lacking sexual motive, sexual misconduct, sexual explicitness in the images, or even a burden of proof that the defendant knew about the illegal photos, O.R.C. 2907.323(a)(3) could not be a sexually-oriented offense under Ohio law in 2002.  In the first place, Ohio’s statutory definition for sex offenses does not mention this subsection of 2907.323.  Moreover, its omission has been expressly reiterated by the Ohio Court of Appeals which observed a need to clarify this point for the record:

State v. Jessee, 2007-Ohio-670  {¶9}
“violations of R.C.2907.322(A)(5) and 2907.323(A)(3) are not sexually oriented offenses per R.C. 2950.01(D)(1)(b)(iii) and (iv).  With respect to violations of R.C. 2907.322 and 2907.323, only

violations of subsections (A)(1) or (3) of R.C. 2907.322 and subsections (A)(1)or (2) of R.C. 2907.323 are defined as sexually oriented offenses, pursuant to R.C. 2950.01(D)(1)(b)(iii) and (iv). Violations of R.C. 2907.322(A)(5) and 2907.323(A)(3) are not likewise classified.”
Unavoidable Verdict 

Arrest, indictment, arraignment, all the usual criminal justice proceedings ensued from the foregoing investigation.  My defense attorneys tried to dispense with the State’s evidence as “Fruit of the Poisonous Tree” because of the investigators’ sloppy search and seizure.   In obtaining the search warrants, they had not specified any particular crime having been committed by a particular person at a particular time.  Their evidence suffered problems with chain-of-custody, since their informant handed a floppy-disk of evidence to an investigator while the investigator did not seize for forensic review the file-server from this same office, purportedly the source of those floppy-disk files.  Also there was no accounting for the fact that “my” designated computer workstation was actually an open resource, used freely in my absence by anyone within our office, including construction crews who were working to expand retail and office spaces elsewhere in our building.  Possession seems nebulous in such a context.  But ownership was an undeniable fact.  Regrettably I owned that workstation and the network it was on, and the business which housed them, and I even paid the bills for the electric and broadband internet services which may have been the inbound pipeline for this crude.

Judge G. Jack Davis struck down our motion to dismiss, and as they say... the rest is history.

Knowing that such cases face a huge emotional bias, and that possession cases such as mine had enjoyed a ZERO percent acquittal rate in recent years (nobody being found innocent, whatsoever) the defense attorneys wisely counseled me to enter into a plea agreement.  Which I did.
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This is not the venue in which to overturn my conviction.  I cannot properly expect you to set aside the findings of the court.  You may assume for the sake of discussion that I am guilty as charged, of the original offense.
Punishment A – Probation With a Twist

The plea agreement was that I would undergo Probation, and would not lose my ability to pursue a computer career or to be a proper father to my very deserving daughter who was not a victim in the case.  However, I would undergo individual counseling and group therapy sessions as done for sex offender cases.  And I would be subject to community sanctions normally imposed upon sex offenders, just to be on the safe side.

Judge Davis was not lawfully able to classify me as a sexually-oriented offender at all.  But he did anyway.  He did not require me to register.  I was never registered in the State of Ohio.  He did not indicate that I presented a threat to anyone of any age.  But he liberally imposed these extra safeguards, just to assure that I would never become a threat.  The judge must have figured these measures couldn’t hurt, might help me to be more cognizant and avoid the slightest appearance of evil.

But they did hurt, immensely:  Those added sanctions created needless confusion about my status.  Since that day, every brush with law enforcement or administrative authority has resulted in additional steps to protect the community, to err on the side of caution, to restrict my freedoms more and more sharply, until I could scarcely believe that such dire circumstances kept arising from such harmless facts.
Punishment B – Technical Violation

I had lost my primary client, LexisNexis, as soon as the initial investigation launched.  I quickly found other employment, but then lost that job when I was indicted, arrested and thrown into the Montgomery County Jail to await trial.  I made bond, but was unable to regain stable employment.  The Information Technology field is exceptionally well connected, and my legal problems had become known.  Unemployment was not an option since my prior career had been self-employment, and my interim job had a terribly short duration.  So I struggled to find smaller freelance assignments, while continuously applying for full-time work.  After my plea bargain, opportunity became still more limited because I had to fill in the “prior felony convictions” section on applications.  I went from being a rugged survivor of the 2001 dot-com crash, to being truly impoverished.

Being newly poor, I cut costs by finding a roommate.  Mike was an older guy who worked at a local supermarket deli.  He had two boys roughly my age, had been divorced 13 years, and was the loneliest sort of family man – the sort who has lost them all.  He seemed harmless.  We found a condo for rent, with an upstairs/downstairs configuration.  He had the two bedrooms upstairs, while I took the wider area intended as a family room downstairs.  I even had my own private entrance, a double sliding glass doorway to the back lawn.

I existed in a routine entirely defined by compliance with all the sanctions placed upon me.  Until almost a year later, our household was disturbed by a pounding on the door, early on a Friday morning.

A leinholder had reported Mike’s car stolen because he was in violation of the fine print in his loan contract, which stipulated that he couldn’t take the car more than 500 miles away.  Mike informs me, our condo was located 508 miles from his point of purchase, and across state lines.  Based on this nitpicky report Mike was arrested by the FBI on that fateful day, but later exonerated of all charges.

Now, when the FBI comes to search a Probationer’s place of residence, his probation officers don’t receive the news very well.  The FBI had already opened up the house and strewn everything around to search for additional stolen items (finding none).  My probation officers combed through a second time, with a different objective, looking for anything which might violate my terms of supervision.  Sure enough, they found a weapon and some pornography and some board games.  Board games??  That’s right.  I was not allowed to possess “children’s paraphernalia” or anything which might be used to entice a child into the household.

When we arrived to court for my Revocation hearing on this technical violation of Probation, I could not afford an attorney and was represented by appointed counsel, Atty. Patrick Conboy.  He succeeded in having the court disregard the weapon and the pornography, since those bits of evidence were found upstairs behind locked doors in a portion of the house which was clearly Mike’s domain.  But since the board games had been found in a downstairs closet, which I could have accessed, the court said I had “constructive possession” of those games and thus my Probation was revoked.  Even though those board games were still sealed in cellophane plastic with Mike’s purchase receipts taped to the top, because he was a collector and wanted to preserve their resale value, their mere presence in the house was enough to send me to Ohio prison for 11 months of a 2-year suspended sentence.

Punishment C – Deprogramming
I was required to undergo sex offender therapy at my own expense, during Probation.  Then upon revocation and incarceration, they sent me to a facility named Madison Correctional Institution where all sex offenders must undergo a six-week course of therapy to include Anger Management, Victim Awareness, and other curriculum intended to reduce the risk of reoffending.  Upon release from prison, I was still required to resume treatment in the private sector, at my own expense.  I didn’t receive any letters or certificates of completion until I had been in North Carolina for a couple of years post-release.  Even when one counselor stated that I’d completed her program successfully, the Parole officers in that jurisdiction simply moved me to another provider and insisted that I re-enroll for treatment.  I was not allowed to quit therapy until my Parole supervision was terminated.

Sex offender therapy is not like “therapy” in any other mental-health context.  Generally speaking, it’s the boot camp & drill sergeant version of therapy.  It is not fun, or very constructive.  Group leaders don’t mind obliterating a participant’s sense of self-worth, to make the offender feel more lowly than dirt in the interest of victim empathy and prevention of recidivism.  Any display of independent thought or personal empowerment is negated.  Sex offenders are made painfully aware of society’s scorn.  If they show signs of instability or depression, they’re encouraged to blunt the pain with psychotropic drugs.

It goes worse for offenders who do not readily admit their crime, take full accountability, show remorse for the victim(s) of their offense, and beg for mercy.  Any offender not fully submissive to these goals of therapy will be washed-out, flunked, returned to prison for a technical violation of their sanctions.  I did comply to the fullest extent possible, although I still tended to refer to my crime as “ownership” rather than admitting a possessory interest in the illegal photos.  Certain counselors took exception to this.

Punishment D – Ohio Prison

The eleven months that I served in Ohio was split between 3 institutions.

First, all prisoners go to the Correctional Receiving Center.  CRC is a maximum-security prison because the prisoners sent there have not yet been classified with respect to their security level.  They undergo testing and evaluation, including basic literacy, I.Q. tests, bloodwork, medical exams, and more.  Then their risk level is assessed and their “home institution” is set.

Next I went to Madison Correctional Institution.  MCI provided Ohio’s centralized sex offender treatment program, as mentioned above.

Finally I went to Chillicothe Correctional Institution.  CCI is a medium-security facility with about a 20% sex offender population, among other nonviolent crimes such as drug offenses and theft and embezzlement, and only a few violent crimes such as rape or murder.  The rapists are there because they get lumped together with the sex offender group, and the murderers because that crime actually has a very low rate of recidivism.  Most do not have persistent violent tendencies.  All of this being true, it still was not the nicest population of people.  One must choose his associations cautiously, as a matter of survival.

While there I did prison artwork as a hobby, using color pencils on handkerchiefs or typing paper.  I joined the chapel choir.  I became a tutor for basic literacy and math coursework.  I tried to gain access to the piano in the chapel, but was denied.  I studied in the library and learned a lot about the laws pertaining to my case.  I wrote long letters home, and to friends who knew of my situation.  I got about 20 bucks a month from my Dad, for the commissary account, used to buy the simplest of necessities.

I wasted bulk quantities of time.  I wrote a new theory of the whole physical universe.  Not kidding.  Of course it lacked any scientific proof whatsoever, but it had some nominally thought-provoking merits.

They also conducted a drug raid at Chillicothe, which proved highly interesting.  The most interesting thing was that they ANNOUNCED the drug raid several days in advance.  To which, the inmate population embarked on a bender, a celebration of ridiculous proportions.  Smoke ‘em if you’ve got ‘em, was the prevalent theme.  On the day of the raid, any remaining contraband was safely secured or flushed down toilets or swallowed in plastic baggies, or something.  The inmates were prepared.  Then a whole team of people dressed in black swat-team gear descended upon the camp, but without drug sniffing dogs.  They combed through all the bunks and lock boxes, and incredibly they DID still find just a handful of people stupid enough to have kept some drugs among their personal effects.  Overall the administration of the prison got two major benefits from conducting this raid:  Firstly, they got to claim a very low incidence of drug use among their population.  Secondly, but of greater economic impact, they cleared almost all the internal caches of drugs, so that the demand for contraband to be smuggled in by corrupted correctional officers would be renewed.  This was a learning experience for me.

Why do I mention this?  Because my passage through our justice and correctional system has not yet provided any favorable impressions of integrity and honor, truth and right, being upheld.

Punishment E – Released to New Restrictions
My release to North Carolina was arranged by a prison caseworker at Chillicothe, not well qualified to analyze legal issues.  She understood well enough, the importance of safeguarding the community from an offender in transition (reentry) from the prison population back to civilian life.  That was her core responsibility.  As such, she gave me two options.  One was to go to a halfway house in Ohio, and the second was to return home to the care of my family in North Carolina.

Not wanting to be a part of the Ohio system any longer than absolutely necessary, I of course opted to return home.  So they negotiated my release through the Interstate Compact office.

I didn’t learn until the day of my release, that the caseworker expected me to sign off on paperwork, indicating my full understanding of the terms of my post-release control.  This was not optional, not any agreement on my part, but just an acknowledgement that I understood my restrictions.  And these fresh restrictions included for the first time, a requirement to register as a sex offender in the State of NC.  They instructed me to report to a Sheriff’s office, within 3 days of my arrival home.

I complied by going to the Bladen County Sheriff, and during that visit I protested so vehemently that the person in charge of sex offender registrations, a nice lady named Jewell Smith, actually wrote to the Attorney General of NC and sought his advice on my behalf.

Given an explicit instruction from the State of Ohio, written by that prison caseworker and passed along through the Interstate Compact office, the AG’s office didn’t read our question as a matter of whether to register my offense, but how to fit me into their system.  North Carolina didn’t have any equivalent law.  So they lined me up with the nearest approximate, that being the NC violation “Sexual Exploitation of a Minor”.  Ms. Jewell Smith reluctantly, dutifully created my entry on the NC Registry as directed.

I inherited new residential restrictions and several other headaches from this unwelcome new status:
I couldn’t go to city parks, even to play tennis with my Dad or to teach a free course in HTML web page design for the community.  I was rejected from the local church choir and forbidden to play piano for church service, because they couldn’t allow a sex offender to be associated with the “ministry” of the church.  But they would let me attend if I wanted.  My neighbors feared that I would molest their kids and contacted my parole officer with the intent of having me forcibly removed from the community, but they could not accomplish their goal because they had absolutely no misconduct to report.  Whenever I walked down the street, they would hustle to herd their children indoors.  A policeman who made a routine stop while a female friend was in my car, instructed me to step out of the car and place my hands on the hood of his cruiser, and not to move.  He then interviewed my passenger and warned her of my status.  To his shock, she already knew and was unbothered by this.  Another time I was placed on a curfew of 7:00 PM, and threatened with House Arrest for missing an appointment with my parole officer.  That same parole officer invented a brand-new requirement that I must inform any prospective employer or freelance client of mine about the sex offender status, and gain their acknowledgement of this fact, in writing.  Maintaining employment went from being a hardship as a felon, to being a real impossibility as a sex offender.
Punishment F – Denial of Visitation
Back in Ohio, when Judge Davis had ordered supervisied visitations with my daughter Ariana, he only meant that there should always be a responsible adult present, who knew of my offense and could vouch for my safe conduct while she was in my company.

In North Carolina, when I mentioned to my first parole officer in Bladen County that my daughter would be coming down for a visit, it was no problem.  He allowed my daughter to stay at my home overnight.  My father was also resident there with me.  My ex-wife personally brought my daughter down to visit and spent the night too.  So we had a houseful of responsible parties, including my daughter’s birth mom and her granddad.

Parole officers reserve the right to change the rules whenever they feel like it.

At the next opportunity for a visit, I had moved to Cumberland County and my parole officer there took a completely different view.  I appealed to her supervisor and got that door slammed in my face too.  So I contacted the District 12 Manager of the Adult Parole Authority, proposing that he should allow supervised visitations conducted at a safehouse where armed deputies would be present along with surveillance cameras and social workers to monitor all the interactions between parent and child.  “Safe Havens” was constructed to allow visitations in cases of family violence, domestic abuse, etc.  The director of Safe Havens helped me to petition the local court for the privilege of utilizing their facility.  The courts agreed, long before the Parole Authority would agree.

It took such a long time to get this authorization, that when they finally granted it, my ex-wife’s vacation had passed and her schedule could no longer accomodate the trip to North Carolina.  I wasn’t permitted to leave the state of NC to visit my daughter in Ohio, due to ongoing Parole supervision.  And before the next opportunity arose, my ex-wife had taken up with a new boyfriend and moved with him to Colorado, taking my daughter along.  Now if I want to visit Ariana I face a 33-hour drive each direction, or a cost-prohibitive airline ticket.

The faulty requirement to register as a sex offender, and to undergo all the sex offender restrictions imposed during post-release control, essentially removed me from my daughter’s life.  I am still trying to reconnect and be more involved as her father, today.  She deserves better than to have an absentee dad.
Punishment G – Deceitful Judge
Amid my efforts to resolve the ongoing difficulties, I wrote Judge G. Jack Davis explaining my whole situation and begged of him very politely to please please please contact someone down in North Carolina, to clarify for everyone the original intent of his sentencing.  I knew for certain, my sanctions and limitations had far exceeded the punishments meted out by the court.

He wasn’t exactly helpful:  Unknown to me, on June 21, 2006 my case had been brought to his attention somehow.  (I suspect that The Hernandez Decision from Ohio’s Supreme Court was the catalyst.  It had been decided on January 12, 2006, just five months earlier.)  Judge G. Jack Davis quietly modified my sentencing to include the post-release control which I was already undergoing in North Carolina.  There was a failure of procedural due process; I was not notified.  Judge Davis modified that final judgment entry more than one year after my sentence had been completed.

So it’s peculiar that when he received my November 29, 2006 letter begging relief, he responded by a terse note stating “Once you have been sentenced and commence your sentence, you are no longer under the jurisdiction of the Judicial branch of government, but you are under the jurisdiction of the Executive branch, and as such, this court has no jurisdiction to release you...”

I cannot reconcile these facts.  Either he was correct about the lack of jurisdiction and thus violated all sorts of ethical codes and separation-of-power doctrines when he took action to revise my sentencing, or he was lying about his lack of jurisdiction and he ought to have helped.  At the very least, he could have picked up a phone and clarified the intent of his sentencing to some North Carolina authority without making any changes to the documentation at all.

Even after his sentencing revision had tacked-on the additional post-release control, there still was no requirement for registration as a sex offender, as my crime was not classified as a sexually-oriented offense.
Unheeded Advice
Throughout all these varied troubles, I continued to campaign by writing letters to every official who I imagined or hoped might have enough authority or any impulse to help.  During the past 9 years I have written to the following, some of them repeatedly:

  •  The NC Attorney General
  •  Special Agent Wendy Brinkley, of the NC SBI (which manages the sex offender registry)
  •  Assistant Special Agent in Charge, Mike East, of the NC SBI
  •  Judge G. Jack Davis, from the original Ohio jurisdiction
  •  Tina Burrows, of Ohio’s Adult Parole Authority
  •  Judge Cobb, of the NC 5th District Superior Court
  •  Ronnell Jones, of the Ohio Interstate Compact Office
  •  The Chinese Consulate in Los Angeles
  •  The U.S. Consulate in Shanghai
  •  U.S. Citizen Services at the State Department
  •  The NC office of the ACLU
  •  Amnesty International
  •  News reporters at various print and television agencies
  •  The Ohio Governor
  •  The North Carolina Governor

I got mixed results, mostly silence.  Some were harmful to my situation.  None profited me much, except one notable exception.  Ronnell Jones had initially responded in tones of defeat, that he could not find a way to alleviate my problems down in North Carolina.  He figured I would have to live within whatever rules were imposed on me, no matter how distantly these requirements might be related with the plea agreement I had entered into.

But behind the scenes he went to task for me.  He discovered that my case fell within a larger class of cases impacted by a ruling from the Ohio Supreme Court.  The Hernandez Decision found that nobody can impose post-release control sanctions upon an offender, if those terms were not spelled out during his original sentencing.  At that time, scores of offenders had already been cut from PRC by the Adult Parole Authority up in Ohio.  Had I been resident there, I would have been notified, and would’ve had my supervision terminated much more promptly.  But finally – a year and three months after Hernandez – the Decision reached me.  Ronnell Jones sent instructions that North Carolina must “cease supervision and close your state’s interest ASAP”.

North Carolina did cease supervision, but did not close the state’s interest in my case.  In open defiance of U.S. Constitutional reciprocity between states, NC retained me on the sex offender registry.  The NC AG’s stance on this matter is that NC has sovereign authority to decide for themselves whether my Ohio offense is registerable, notwithstanding any contrary directive from Ohio.  That’s bold.  Actually if the AG had not been moved by Ohio’s faulty instruction to place me on the registry in the first place, they would never have found any pretense or basis to publish me there.  It will be hard for NC to justify their “selective hearing” in response to just one (but not the other) of Ohio’s instructions regarding my case.
Punishment H –Light on a Bicycle
Having been freed from North Carolina’s parole supervision which had limited me within a single county, I expanded my job search nationally.  I found employment in Los Angeles California and moved out there.  

I went to the Sheriff’s office to register, and they didn’t know what I was talking about.  Turns out that the registration requirements out there are managed by the Police instead.  Sheriffs gave me directions to L.A. County’s main Police Department near Hollywood.  On the next day off from work, I went there and they told me that I should find the nearest local Police Station from my residence.  They would have jurisdiction to manage my case.  Meanwhile I was seeking an apartment to live in, and didn’t feel altogether certain about where my residence would be established.  Finally I found a cheap room for rent in El Segundo, CA just below the LAX airport.  This choice location is part of the reason I happened to meet a lovely flight attendant, who later became my wife.  A good move!

From a hire date of October 13, I found my apartment and signed the lease in 8 days.  I was riding my bicycle home after dark on the next Saturday, and was arrested.  They stopped me because I didn’t have a headlight on my bicycle.  Never having lived in California, I had no idea a headlight was required.

From that quirky traffic stop, things took a bad direction.  Officers asked for my I.D. because they said it was “suspicious” to see a bicycle being driven so rapidly without a light.  They said there had been some recent problems with theft in the area.  I wasn’t carrying anything, stolen or otherwise.  But they wanted to see whether I had any outstanding warrants, to explain my preference for total darkness.  So I showed them my NC driver’s license, and right away they noticed the sex offender status flag, associated to my Dept. of Motor Vehicles record in NC.  So that opened up a whole new line of questioning.  Where are you staying?  How long have you been here?  I told them I was renting a room from a new friend, and had only been there a few days.  What’s my friend’s name?  Irene.  What’s her LAST name?  I dunno.  Having known her for only 3 days there was no chance for me to remember a name like “Zamorano”.  So the officers decided I was lying, and they arrested me and threw me into jail on charges of Failure to Register as a Sex Offender.

They let me out on my own recognizance, the next day.  I was scheduled for court on December 31, then rescheduled for February 28, rescheduled again for March 11.  When we finally met in court, appointed counsel showed my hire letter and my lease agreement to the District Attorney, who promptly dismissed the case.

Punishment I – International Travel
The second entry on the Table of Contents, Unfettered Dreams, tells how I met my wife and planned to go meet her.  

I did my homework about whether a sex offender may travel abroad, and found that it is permissible.  Then I did my homework about the prospect of marriage, and created an Affidavit of Single Status authenticated by a Notary Public, a Deputy County Clerk, and the California Secretary of State, so it would pass muster with Chinese authorities.  Also with respect to Chinese authority, I applied for a Visa to visit that country.  In completing the application I informed them of my sex offender status and the felony conviction on my record, dated back to 2002.  They were unconcerned, and granted me a multiple-entry business-class Visa valid for a full year.  Each entry to China would allow me to stay for a maximum of 60 days.  I could leave and return anytime.  A great privilege!  And so I went.

Pender County NC authorities insisted that I must register as a sex offender over there.  I asked their direction, and asked input from the U.S. Consulate in Shanghai China, how to go about this.  Nobody could provide any answer.  There was no mechanism in China to do so.

As the best substitute, I went in person to the U.S. Consulate in Shanghai, and completed a Travel Registration with the State Department.  While the U.S. Constitution awards jurisdiction to the Federal government for all interstate or international matters, the Pender County NC authorities would not recognize these Federally-authenticated efforts toward compliance.  They doggedly insisted that I must appear at their office in North Carolina.

Since I couldn’t magically appear in Pender County on short notice, they issued a warrant for my arrest on the basis of a Failure to Register.  The outstanding warrant caused my Passport to be revoked.  Consequently when my Visa needed to be renewed for the next 60-day interval, I would have no valid identity document to present to the Chinese authorities.  I could not stay.  I was forced to return home to the USA within two months.  At my own expense.

Upon my return I was locked-down at the port of entry, the San Francisco Airport to be precise.  They put me into a holding cell, then conferred with Pender County officials and got extradition papers faxed to them, and moved me to the nearby San Mateo County jail.  I stayed there for 12 days before a van showed up, to carry me cross-country to North Carolina, in shackles.

I slept in various jails from Reno Nevada, to Blackhawk Colorado, to Indiana, to Craven County NC, then finally arrived to Pender County NC after spending portions of 6 rough days in transit and confinement.  Sheriffs got their wish and “brought me to justice” all the way from China.  They bragged about this accomplishment in a local newspaper [http://www.jdnews.com/articles/weidner-71722-police-marine.html].  I’m still not sure what good they accomplished, or how it could’ve been humanly possible for anyone to meet their requirement via any government agency on the planet, apart from their local office down there in Pender County. They’re just self-important like that.
Punishment J – Facebook
Pender County authorities contrived some interesting new ways, to jail me another time.  They don’t seem to care whether the alleged crimes are even plausible.

After I had been extradited and jailed, and made bond, and showed up for my first court appearance, they filed a new warrant for my arrest.  The warrant was created on January 20, 2010 alleging two crimes to have occurred on November 19, 2009.

If in fact, the crimes had occurred and were known on November 19, why did Pender County wait until the following January to create this warrant?  Pure meanness.  They wanted me to remain in jail.

And what were these heinous crimes?

One was a secondary Failure to Register offense, created when I could not respond to a mailed address verification letter within three days.  Again, they expected me to appear in Pender County and were unsatisfied by the U.S. State Department’s Travel Registration document which provided Federal confirmation of my whereabouts.

The other charge was alleged “Sex Offender Use of a Social Network” for having a Facebook page.  The law was enacted on May 1, 2009 while I had been in California.  When I returned from CA to NC on the 18th day of that same month, nobody told me about the new law.  I re-registered in NC and faithfully provided my online identifiers, informing Pender County officials about my accounts with MySpace, Facebook, and the LinkedIn professional network.  There was no mention of any problem.  So again on November 17, 2009  I repeated this information on the face of the Travel Registration document, still not realizing that such accounts were off-limits to a sex offender.

The perfect irony of this offense is the fact that there’s no way to access Facebook from China.  The Chinese government has famously blocked all Western social networks, as part of their censorship policy.  Since we know for a fact that I was there in Shanghai, we also know that I wasn’t accessing Facebook.  Had an account?  Yes.  Accessed it?  No way.  This charge is so bogus, it’s almost laughable.

I didn’t laugh so much while I was in jail.

Punishment K – Failure to Appear

Pender County has a very special way of punishing me for not arriving to someplace impossible.

The next thing they rigged up, was a court appearance where my presence was required but nobody was notified at all.  Anywhere.  I mean, not only did I not get the notice, but they didn’t inform my attorney, and didn’t publish the court date to the online calendar website, and didn’t tell my bondsman until after the court date was over and my bond was revoked.

The judge of course issued a bench warrant for my failure to appear, and I was arrested and my bond amounts on all the prior charges were doubled, now totaling $40,000.  Finally they had me where they wanted me – stuck in jail and facing an unattainable quantity of money for bond.

This was un-funny.  Especially when I was attacked by a fellow inmate, I didn’t see the humor in this power play.  Not at all.  This made 3 consecutive times that the same county had jailed me, having no solid basis to accuse me of any wrongdoing at all.

My attorney sent a motion to the local Superior Court Judge, and I was promptly released, and my bond restored.

Small clerical mistake, Pender County said.  They claimed they had mailed a notice of this court date to my former physical address.  Nobody may ever know, because that address had no mail receptacle, and the item would’ve been returned to sender.  Obviously they failed to contact me or reschedule the court date if/when they got the returned item at the Clerk’s office.  Anyway they knew very well that I had moved and re-registered myself two counties away.

While I had been in their county, verification letters and notices were always sent to my Post Office Box.  I can’t fathom where they dredged up the useless physical address.  I award them bonus points for creativity.  Had it not been done on the heels of two earlier consecutive jailings for nonsensical reasons, I might even buy into their explanation.  But, no.  Pure malice again.
Punishment L – Red Tape
I have been given every opportunity to enjoy a totally desolate life.

I’ve failed to mention how nearly impossible it is for me to do stuff that normal people take for granted.  Just for the privilege of walking around free, I’ve spent over $10,000 in attorney’s fees and another $2000 in bond money.  Lately.

For employment, I have to make a zillion applications to find any shred of hope.  Everyone’s having tough times due to the slow economy.  Can you imagine being labeled a sex offender before you begin your job shopping?  

For spending time with my child, I basically have no shot.  No chance that my ex-wife and her new guy are going to allow my daughter to fly over and visit with her sex-offender dad.  Even if they liked me a lot, it could reflect badly on them as parents to facilitate such a visit.  Children’s Protective Services might consider them unfit parents and remove Ariana from their home, for such a lapse in judgment.  So I must do the traveling myself, to see her.  And I’m obligated to pay child support, at a heightened rate because I have 0% shared custody time.  The child support funds are hard to get because I can’t find work.  But if I succeed in paying that, the time and expense of traveling to visit her is out of reach.

Now my government is threatening to take my wife away.  Although I’ve paid the necessary filing fees, and ours is a qualifying marriage, and I did just barely clear the income requirement to sponsor my bride for a family-based Visa, this still isn’t a done deal.  I am supposed to prove to my government that I pose no risk to my lovely wife.  So I have gathered certified documents from every agency that ever arrested me, and every courthouse where my cases have been heard, at an expense well over $300 just for having them copied and sent to me.  I have spent many many days to compile all this information in a more easily digestible format for review.  And my wife and I have been frankly stressed beyond belief, fearing that our best years together may be stolen away by a single callous decision, based on a law and a status that shouldn’t apply to me in the first place.  It came to us as an “Intent to Deny” announcement, apparently a done deal.  Consequently my wife and I have aged about 8 years during the past 80 days, if one would estimate ages by our appearance and zest for life.  You cannot fathom the emotional toll it has taken on us, to struggle through so many adversities and FINALLY be married and enjoy the honeymoon phase of our relationship together, and then to be robbed of that joy.

So here you have our chronicles of pain.  You may have the privilege to add a chapter, or give our story a better ending.
Unthinkable Thoughts
Your letter says I am “provided an opportunity to submit documentary evidence in an effort to overcome the deficiencies forming the grounds for the intended denial” and that “every petitioner has the burden of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence that he or she is eligible”.

What evidence is enough?  We have the Ohio Court of Appeals reiterating that my offense was not defined as a sexually-oriented offense.  Two letters are attached, from therapists who evaluated me as low-risk (they never dare to say ZERO risk).
Though clearly I’ve been over-punished for my crime year upon year, this very fact could be seen as a “preponderance of evidence” to suggest that you follow the examples of your counterparts from every level of government.  Crushing sex offenders wins the popular vote.  Sure you’d be in good company, but you would also be perpetrating a huge injustice.  There is a subtle but important difference between operating within the law, and propagating an error of law.  Careful discernment is needed.

The Adam Walsh Act has placed you in a horribly indefensible spot.  In strictly common-sense terms it’s pretty shaky to assert that because some citizen owned a computer in 2002, government can remove his wife in 2011.  Even if, on account of the illegal images of nude children found on that computer, one would assume that I was guilty of impure thoughts toward minors, this presents no threat to any adult counterpart, most especially not to the lovely 31-year-old woman who I am sworn to love honor and cherish.  This logical progression simply fails on all levels.

What does the Adam Walsh Act really say about petitioners?  In layman’s terms, it says that some dirty scoundrels may bring women and children to this country to sell them into sexual slavery, and that therefore all child-related sex offenders should be disqualified from sponsoring family-based petitions.  Examine the logic more closely:  Can we really assert that (a.) all petitioners thus restricted by the AWA are driven by nefarious motives and purposes, or that (b.) all persons not thus restricted by the AWA are upstanding citizens?  Not a chance.  No such blanket statements can be true across the board.

Yes, a petitioner’s sex offender status throws a big red flag to alert you of potential exploitation by way of marriage.  Your agency retains the familiar responsibility of determining which marriages are legitimate and which are shams, a responsibility which includes appropriately heightened scrutiny of any case involving a sex offender.  Irrespective of the AWA, it has always been (and still remains) incumbent upon your authority to give every petitioner a fair opportunity and evaluation.

The Adam Walsh Act is unconstitutionally overbroad, in prompting you to abandon such cases categorically.  It is not sound procedure to announce your Intent to Deny before an interview has been conducted, or to escalate such cases to the Director level before allowing the rare exception.  I’d think that your agency would want to distance itself from this carnage, rather than becoming complicit in the destruction of core human rights.  Since the Secretary of the Dept of Homeland Security has delegated sole authority on this matter to your agency, this includes authority to disregard the AWA altogether.


Your agency had dealt with these concerns before Adam Walsh arrived on the scene.  The Government Accountability Office did a study in June 2006, just before the AWA was ratified in July of that same year, detailing “Circumstances under Which Petitioners' Sex Offenses May Be Disclosed to Beneficiaries”.  It offered guidelines by which your agency could inform and safeguard the innocents entering into this country as beneficiaries, without violating the Privacy Act of 1974.  All the AWA really added, was the benefit of an escape clause for occasions when you’d be looking for an excuse to deny a petition.

Why would anyone wish to deny this one?

My dear wife has sacrificed much to stand beside me.  She forfeit a really great career as a flight attendant, and came here on total faith that America would provide all the opportunity she could want.

I promised her that it would be possible to find employment, even during these bleak economic times, because she is so rare and beautiful and intelligent, and multilingual and helpful, and possesses a fine work ethic.  So as soon as she had received her Work Authorization from the USCIS, she embarked on a job hunt and succeeded!  Presently she works for a local Dermatologist, as a Medical Assistant.  She is rapidly learning all the skin conditions and diseases, medications and drug interactions, insurance programs and billing details, computer systems and other aspects of her new job.  Already she is a contributing member of American society.  She is an overachiever.

Your agency does not protect my wife, or advance her interests, by voiding her Visa and sending her back home to China on the basis that her husband was disqualified as a petitioner by some arcane technicality.

From another angle:  I’ve found that actual victims of human trafficking can be granted T-visas, “to bring relief to those who have suffered the devastating impact of trafficking”.  371 of these T-visas were issued from March 2002 – April 2004.  Furthermore, “immigrants who become victims of domestic violence, sexual assault and some other specific crimes may apply for legal immigration status” by virtue of the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA), or by attaining U-nonimmigrant status.  Nice gestures, actually.  I am glad America does this stuff.

Bringing it home to my case, it’s apparent that if I did horribly mistreat my wife she could leave me in the dust and remain in the USA.  Seems this sort of loophole would tend to invite false claims of violence and sexual abuse, among immigrants who want to dump their sponsor and play the system to get a greencard.  Yet my wife may be flung across the globe because our marriage is the real thing.

And that’s the story here, more than any criminal background or status, or legal mumbo-jumbo.  A clean criminal background report is not a requirement to obtain a marriage license.  Not for me, and not for anyone!  Death Row inmates are permitted to marry, have conjugal visits, and raise a family.  An extreme example, but it reflects upon marriage as a truly inalienable human right.    No matter what scorn you hold for the events of my 2002 case, the marriage in your hands today is inviolable.

This excellent wife deserves to be respected for her valor, not sent home in disgrace.
